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The Villard Houses are five separate residences contained within a 
brownstone structure in the style of a Neo-Italian Rennaissance 
palazzo with a U-shaped plan. The complex includes 451 Madison Avenue 
and its extension, 29 1/2 East 50th Street, which occupy the south 
wing of the palazzo on 50th Street; 453 and 455 Madison Avenue, which 
occupy the center wing; 457 Madison Avenue, which occupies two-thirds 
of the north wing along 51st Street; and 24-26 East 51st Street at 
the eastern end of the north wing. The three wings enclose an elegant 
courtyard entered through an arched wrought-iron gateway.

The detailing and proportions of the building were inspired by the 
Palazzo della Cancelleria in Rome. The brownstone facade is three 
stories with a high basement and attic. The hipped roof is covered 
with brown tile. A seven story tower rises unobtrusively from the 
final two bays of the southern wing, 451 Madison Avenue. The gradation 
of floors is emphasized by decreasing the story height. Band courses 
consist of a bold torus molding at the basement; an architrave, plain 
frieze and cornice between the first and second floor; a plain band 
course at the third floor; and a torus molding below the attic. The 
roof is set off by a cornice of dentils, egg and dart molding, and 
foliated modillions. Brownstone chimney shafts rise above the roofline.

The north and south wings have five bays facing the interior 
courtyard, three bays on Madison Avenue, and seven bays on 50th and 
51st Streets. An additional two bays have been added: i.to 451 :M:adi.son by 
the seven-story tower, and a one-and-one-half story entrance and porch were 
added to 24-26 East 51st Street. The center wing has seven bays with 
a central five-bay pavillion set off by quoins. The corners of the 
building and tower are also articulated by quoins.

The window fenestration adds much to the refinement of the facades. 
Openings on the basement level are covered with grates except for 
those of the north wing on Madison Avenue, which have been converted 
into display cases. The windows of the first floor, like the Cancelleria, 
are framed by a simple arch with a rosette medallion at each spandrel. 
Second story, windows are set off by an architrave, plain frieze, and 
projecting cornice. Third story windows combine the arch and rosette 
with a straight pediment and resemble the Cancelleria's second story 
windows.
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The focal point of the building is the courtyard. The courtyard 
is entered through an arched, floral, wrought-iron gateway, which 
suspends a Florentine lantern. The arch springs from brownstone 
gateposts inlaid with panels or urns and garlands and crowned by 
colossal ball finials. The central pavillion of the middle wing rises 
above a five bay arcade with granite columns and rosette medallions.
The windows of the central pavillion are grouped in pairs. The 
entrances to 453 and 455 Madison recede behind the middle bay of the 
arcade in barrel vaults decorated with gilded rosette coffers, and 
egg and dart and bead and reel moldings. The doors to 451 and 457 Madison 
Avenue rise above pedestal stairs, have a plain frieze and projecting 
cornice, and Florentine lamps on either side. Balconies with circular 
medallions supported by foliated brackets emphasize the second story 
central bays of the courtyard and facades of 451 and 457 Madison Avenue.

The one and one-half story addition to the north wing at 24-26 
East 51st Street extends 20 feet beyond the back of the building and 
64 feet along the back of the central wing. It is entered through a 
monumental arched loggia adorned with terracotta plaques, ornamental 
brackets and rosettes. The extension is in stretcher bond brick with 
cast iron muntin* at the windows.

The south wing of the Villard Houses contains stained glass by 
L.C. Tiffany and by La Farge Decorative Glass Company, murals by George 
W. Breck and John La Farge, and marble sculpture by Augustus St. Gaudens. 
Much of its architectural woodwork was executed by Joseph Cabus, and its 
decorative painting, gilding, mosaic, and panelling were done by the 
interior decorating firms Sarre & LePelley, L. Marcotte & Co., Herter 
Brothers, and Allard & Co.

The wing's Music Room or Gold Room combines a ceiling in the Italian 
style with wood wainscoting in a French Rennaissance style. Gold 
brocade covers the walls. The floor is white mahogany and English oak. 
Large mural paintings at either end of the room are "Art" and "Music" 
by John La Farge.
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The floors of the south wing's dining room are teakwood planks with 
ebony edge strips and teakwood dowels with an Italian walnut border. 
The mantel is red verona marble with sculpture by Augustus St. Gaudens. 
In the former library on the second floor, the walls are American 
walnut and the coffered ceiling contains three murals by George W. 
Breck and various crests of publishing firms.

In 1948, the south wing was converted into office space for the 
Archbishopric of New York by Voorhees, Walker, Foley & Smith, and 
considerable care was taken to leave the original interior intact.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Villard Houses are one of the earliest and most distinguished 
examples of the Neo-Italian Rennaissance style in New York City, 

and their inhabitants were important figures in the history of American 
journalism and railroads. As a complex of brownstone- residences, 
they represent one of the most sophisticated urban groupings of their 
time. The interiors of the Villard Houses contain some of the most 
beautiful rooms that remain from that era. The Villard Houses display 
a quality of workmanship no longer duplicable and contain works of 
several significant 19th century artists in America. They are 
incomparable and irreplaceable examples of design and craftsmanship.

The Villard Houses were erected by Henry Villard on land acquired 
from the Trustees of St. Patrick's Cathedral in 1881. At that time, 
the area was dominated by Columbia College, whose imposing Tudor 
Gothic buildings, the library and Hamilton Hall, stood on Madison 
Avenue at 49th and 50th Streets. On Fifth Avenue, mansions of 
eclectic Style w6re beginning to replace brownstone row houses. The 
twin Vanderbilt houses at Fifth Avenue and 52nd Street, erected between 
1880 and 1884, may have inspired Villard to build near by.

Henry Villard was a journalist, railway promoter and financier. He 
owned the New York Post and was president of the Northern Pacific 
Railroad. Villard married Helen Frances Garrison, the only daughter 
of William Lloyd Garrison, the abolitionist. Their son, Oswald 
Garrison Villard, was the publisher and editor of The Nation magazine.

In 1882, Villard commissioned the firm of McKim, Mead & White to design a six-house complex.^ The building was one of the^ firmv's- first- 
designs in the Neo-Italian Rennaissance style, a style which was later 
used in many of their most significant buildings, such as the 
Metropolitan Club (1893), the University Club (1899), 998 Fifth Avenue 
(1910) and the Racquet and Tennis Club (1918).

Villard occupied the south wing of the building, 451 Madison Avenue, 
which was completed in 1884. He lived there less than a year, 
however, when a decline in the Northern Pacific Railroad forced him to 
sell this building. In 1886, Elizabeth Mills Reid bought the

■‘■Two houses in the north wing were combined in 1922 to make five, the 
present number.
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south wing. Her husband, Whitelaw Reid, was a celebrated Civil War 
journalist and later editor of Horace Greely's Tribune. Reid served 
as Ambassador to England and later to Spain. He was the Republican 
candidate for Vice President in 1892. In 1909, the Reids commissioned 
McKim, Mead & White to add a seven story tower to the east end of the 
south wing. 451 Madison remained in the Reid family until 1948, 
when Ogden Mills Reid sold the wing to the Archbishopric of New York.

453 Madison Avenue in the center wing was first owned by Artemas H. 
Holmes, a lawyer. After his death, the house was bought by 
Elizabeth Mills Reid in 1917. 455 Madison was first owned by
Edward Dean Adams, a financier and patron of the arts. As Chairman
of the Board of the Northern Pacific Railroad and Representative of 
the Deutsche Bank of Berlin, Adams was a business associate of Henry 
Villard. In 1887, he commissioned McKim, Mead & White to design a
country house, "Rohaillon”, in Sea Bright, New Jersey. He served as
trustee of the American Academy in Rome, the Metropolitan Museum of 
Art and other cultural institutions.

457 Madison Avenue was originally owned by Harris C. Fahnestock, a 
banker. 457 Madison Avenue was then two houses, the interior 
furnishings of which were planned by McKim, Mead & White. The two units 
were combined in 1922 for William C. Fahnestock by the architect 
Charles A. Platt. William Fahnestock founded the New York stock 
exchange firm of Fahnestock & Company, and was director of the 
Lackawanna & Western Railroad Company. The Fahnestocks owned 457 
Madison Avenue until 1945, when it was sold to Joseph P. Kennedy.
Kennedy sold the wing to Random House Publishers in 1946.

The original occupant of 24-26 East 51st Street was Roswell Smith, 
a lawyer and publisher who founded the magazines, Scribner's Monthly 
and Century. In 1886, Smith commissioned a one and one-half story 
addition to the north wing by Babb, Cook & Willard. The house was 
occupied from 1921 to 1949 by Harris Fahnestock's daughter, Helen 
Cambell Hubbard, who also owned 455 Madison Avenue during that period.
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